
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

August 21, 2018 5:30 pm 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Phil Boyum 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations  
A) Proclamation recognizing the City of Statesboro as “A Purple Heart City” 

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 08-07-2018 Council Minutes 
b) 08-07-2018 Executive Session Minutes 
c) 08-14-2018 Called Council Minutes 

 
6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Alcohol License Application: 

A)  Deacon Blues BBQ 
      Karen O’Neal 
      721 South Main St 

 

7. Consideration of a Motion to approve application for Sec.6-17(d) exemptions to open 
container prohibition. The event is set for August 31st, 2018 from 7:00 pm until 11:30 
pm. 

(A) The Blue Room 
Kaleo Lyles 
1830 Chandler Road 

 
8. Consideration of a Motion to Approve an Occupational Tax Certificate for  Massage 

Parlors and Permits for massagist applicants 

A) Long Life Medical Massage Therapy-Thomas Redfearn 
116 B Savannah Avenue 
 

B) Lisa’s Therapeutic Massage- David Lee Whiters 
609 Brannen Street 
 
 
 

 
 



 
 

9. Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve ONE of the following 
Ordinances of the Statesboro Code of Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 (Alcoholic 
Beverages) regarding Sec.6-3 Definitions and Sec 6-9 Minors and persons under 21 years 
of age. 
 
A) Ordinance 2018-03- Original Michael’s Law proposal 

 
B) Ordinance 2018-06- Revision of Councilman Boyum’s proposal 

 
10. Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Ordinance 2018-07: An 

Ordinance of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances: Chapter 2 (Administration) 
Amendment amending the appointment procedure for members of the Alcohol Advisory 
Board as set out in Section 2-98. 
 

11.  Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-07-
01: Haken Holdings requests a zoning map amendment of 2.24 acres of property located 
at 814 South Main Street from the CR (Commercial Retail) to the R-4 (High Density 
Residential) zoning district in order to develop a multi-family cottage community (Tax 
Parcel MS52 000027 000). 
 

12. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-07- 
02:  Windward South requests a zoning map amendment of 19.2 acres from a 54.12 acre 
property located on S&S Railroad Bed Road from R-10/R-8 (Single Family Residential) 
to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop a multifamily 
residential subdivision. (Tax Parcel # 107 000009 000). 
 

13.  Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION CBD 18-
07- 03:  Northland Communications Corporation requests approval of the proposed site 
and architectural plans submitted for 1.17 acres of property located at 32 E. Vine St, 
which is located in the Central Business District (CBD). Per Article VIII, Section 803, 
development in the CBD zoning district requires a recommendation from City Council to 
affirm that the plans will keep in mind the integrity and harmony of the Central Business 
District (Tax Parcel S29 000019 000). 
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to Award a contract to Tyson Utilities for improvements to the 
Bird’s Pond Lift Station in the amount of $172,962.40. 
 

15. Consideration of a motion to approve the Bulloch County Historical Society to place 
a historical marker on city property recognizing the grave of William Charles "Willie" 
Heddleston, the first internment in the Eastside Cemetery and authorize the mayor to sign 
a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for its placement. 

 
16. Other Business from City Council 

 
17. City Managers Comments 

 
18. Public Comments (General) 



 
 

 
19. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 

20. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 





 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 
August 7, 2018 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on August 7, 2018 at 9:00a.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jonathan McCollar, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn, John Riggs and Derek Duke.  Also present were City 
Manager Randy Wetmore, Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling and 
City Attorney Cain Smith.      
The Meeting was called to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar. 
 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilman John Riggs 
 
City Manager Randy Wetmore recognized Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire as he bids 
farewell as he leaves the City for other employment after 22 years of service. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations  

A) Presentation of the City of Statesboro Employee of the Quarter 
B) Presentation of the City of Statesboro Employee of the Year 
C) Recognition of the Firefighters and Fire Officers involved with the rescue of two 

victims during a structure fire on morning of July 9th, 2018. 
D) Presentation by Ecological Planning Group on the completion of Task Order 2 

of the Stormwater Master Plan. 
E)  Presentation on the Building Code Effectiveness Grading Schedule (BCGES) 

evaluation of the building inspections Program performed by Insurance Services 
Office (ISO) 

 HR Coordinator Krystina Johnson presented an award to Missy Hagan for the “Employee of the 
Quarter for FY 2019 and also presented John Dekle the award for “Employee of the Year for 
2018. 
 

Fire Chief Tim Grams presented awards to the firefighters involved in the rescuing of victims 
from a fire at 242 Ga. Ave. The list of firefighters that received a Unit Citation metal was: 

Capt. Stacy Wilson, Lt. Derek Stoddard, Fire Apparatus Operator Caleb New, Fire Apparatus 
Operator Jon Patterson, Firefighter Timothy Bartholomay, Firefighter Cody Hanna, Firefighter 
Casey Perkins, Firefighter Trey Seamans, Firefighter Robert Telgen, as well as Brad Bouchillon,  
Raymond Hutchinson, Marcel Farmer and Steven Morris, share in the unit citation. 

Brad Bouchillon, Raymond Hutchinson and Marcel Farmer also received the “Medal of Honor” 

June Dipolito also thanked the fighters and presented a plaque to them. 

 



 
 

Dr. Rob Brown , water ecological specialist, gave an overview of the City’s needs regarding the 
Stormwater Master Plan focusing on Basin 7 MLK West. 
 
Director of Engineering and Public Works Jason Boyles gave Council an update on the success 
of the ISO rating for the building inspections program.  

Public Comments (Agenda Item):  Councilman John Rigs recognized Councilman Phil Boyum 
for receiving his Certificate of Distinction from GMA. 
 
Councilman Boyum stepped out of the meeting. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 07-17-2018 Council Minutes 
b) 07-17-2018 Executive Session Minutes 
c) 07-25-2018 Called Council Minutes 
d) 07-25-2018 Executive Session Minutes 
 

Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the consent 
agenda in its entirety. Councilman Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2018-08: An Ordinance of the Statesboro 
Code of Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) regarding Sec.6-3 
Definitions and Sec 6-9 Minors and persons under 21 years of age. 
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 
4-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Boyum rejoined the meeting. 
 
Mike Vaquer presented the amended ordinance from his perspective as a member of the Georgia 
Restaurant Association. 
Jamie Grady representing the Averitt Arts Center spoke against some of the rules and he stated 
they were confusing. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
Councilman Boyum also expressed some of the issues as he stated the guidelines seem to 
indicate fake bars and restaurants. He also stated it doesn’t address the issues with 18 year olds 
being allowed where alcohol is served. 

There was no action taken. 

 



 
 

Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve/deny Ordinance 2018-06: An 
Ordinance of the Statesboro Code of Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 (Alcoholic 
Beverages) regarding Sec.6-3 Definitions and Sec 6-9 Minors and persons under 21 years of 
age. 
 
Councilman Duke made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to table this item until 
August 21, 2018 and as part of the motion directing Cain to combine the proposed alcohol 
ordinances to make one ordinance for Council to vote on. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, 
Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion was approve 5-0. 
 
Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2018-07: An Ordinance of the Statesboro 
Code of Ordinances: Chapter 2 (Administration) Amendment amending the appointment 
procedure for members of the Alcohol Advisory Board as set out in Section 2-98. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Boyum asked City Attorney Cain Smith to amend the ordinance to read 2 year and 1 
year terms staggered. 
  
Consideration of a Motion to authorize the City to enter into a memorandum of 
understanding with Bulloch County to share expenses of a cloud-based GIS system. Under 
this MOU, the City will manage and maintain this cloud-based system and the County will 
share half the related expenses in this project. This project is budgeted in fiscal year 2019 
within the GIS Division of Central Services. 
 
Councilman Riggs stepped out of the meeting. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Duke to authorize the City to enter 
into a memorandum of understanding with Bulloch County to share expenses of a cloud-based 
GIS system. Under this MOU, the City will manage and maintain this cloud-based system and 
the County will share half the related expenses in this project. This project is budgeted in fiscal 
year 2019 within the GIS Division of Central Services. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn  and 
Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2018-22: A Resolution of the Mayor and 
City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia; Calling for a General Municipal Election 
to be held on November 6, 2018. (Brunch Bill) 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Duke to approve Resolution 
2018-22: A Resolution of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia; Calling 
for a General Municipal Election to be held on November 6, 2018. (Brunch Bill) Councilman 



 
 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 
vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2018-23: A Resolution approving and 
adopting a 2018 Redevelopment Plan and associated Tax Allocation District (“TAD”) for 
an area within the City and authorizing the entry into one or more intergovernmental 
agreements between the City, Board of Commissioners of Bulloch County, and/or the 
Board of Education of Bulloch County. 
 
Councilman Riggs rejoined the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve Resolution 
2018-23: A Resolution approving and adopting a 2018 Redevelopment Plan and associated Tax 
Allocation District (“TAD”) for an area within the City and authorizing the entry into one or 
more intergovernmental agreements between the City, Board of Commissioners of Bulloch 
County, and/or the Board of Education of Bulloch County. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, 
Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion was approve 5-0. 
 
Discussion regarding Distribution of TSPLOST funding and Prioritization of Project List  
 
Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire reviewed the TSPLOST with Mayor and Council. No 
action was taken. 
Councilman John Riggs left the meeting. 
 
Discussion and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Creating the New Position of 
TSPLOST Project Manager 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve the creation of a 
new position for a TSPLOST Project Manager. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion was approve 4-0. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to set the dates for the required three (3) public hearings to 
solicit input regarding the millage rate of 7.308 for the 2018 property taxes 

1st Public Hearing- August 28th, 2018 at Noon (12:00) pm 
2nd Public Hearing- August 28th, 2018 at 6:00 pm 
3rd Public Hearing- September 4th, 2018 at 9:00 am 

 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Duke to approve the 3 dates for the 
public hearing regarding the millage rate of 7.308 for the 2018 property taxes. Councilman 
Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion.  The motion was approve 4-
0. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the RFP for the City of Statesboro Employee pay 
plan study 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Duke to approve an RFP for the 
City of Statesboro Employee pay plan study. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion was approve 4-0. 



 
 

 
 
 
Other Business from City Council: None 
 
City Managers Comments 
 
Director of Public Works and Engineering Jason Boyles stated the transfer station was having 
some delays due to all the rain recently. 
 
Public Comments (General) None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 11:10 am Councilman Duke made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to enter into 
Executive Session. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion was approve 4-0. 
 
At 11:30 am, the regular meeting was called back to order with no action taken. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Duke to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
was approve 4-0. 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:30 am. 
 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Called Council Minutes 

August 14, 2018 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on August 14, 2018 at 9:00 a.m. in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jonathan McCollar, Council Members: 
Phil Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn, John Riggs and Derek Duke.  Also present were City 
Manager Randy Wetmore, City Clerk Sue Starling and City Attorney Cain Smith.      
The Meeting was called to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar. 
 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilman Derek Duke 

 
Discussion and Consideration of a Motion to authorize the City of Statesboro to partner 
with Statesboro’s Downtown Get Down Event. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to authorize the City of 
Statesboro to partner with Statesboro’s Downtown Get Down Event. Councilman Boyum, Jones, 
Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 

Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Duke voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:03 am. 

























































































Ordinance 2018-03: An Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances (Alcoholic Beverages) 

WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia; 
and 

WHEREAS, the public hearing that preceded the adoption of the ordinance amendment was 
advertised; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 

Chapter 6  Alcoholic Beverages of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby 
amended and shall read as follows:  

 

Sec. 6-9.-Minors and Persons under 21 years of age 

Section 6-9 Age Requirements for Entry or Employment at a Bar or as Bouncer 

(a)For purposes of this Section: 

(i) “Bar” means any premises at which a retailer licensed to sell alcoholic beverages pursuant to 
this Chapter derives 75% or more total annual gross revenue from the sale of alcoholic beverages 
for on-premises consumption (or derives less than 25% of total annual gross revenue from the 
sale of food prepared in a properly provisioned on-premises kitchen or raise food % to one 
Mayor and Council can be comfortable with).  Bar designation under this section shall not apply 
to spectator sports facilities, performing arts centers, or live musical concert venues that only 
engage in alcoholic beverage sales from less than one hour prior to start of sporting, musical, or 
performing arts events that are open to the public until the conclusion of said events. 

(ii)”Bouncer” means an individual primarily performing duties related to verifying age for 
admittance, security, maintaining order or safety, or any combination thereof. 

(b) All individuals must be at least 21 years of age to enter or remain in a Bar unless he or she is 
accompanied by a parent, legal guardian, or spouse who is  21 years of age or older.  This 
restriction shall not apply if a minor over 18 years of age enters the Bar in order to attend a bona 
fide live musical concert or live performing arts presentation for which the minor has paid an 
admission charge and is visibly and conspicuously marked as a minor for purposes of alcohol 
consumption and service.  Persons under 21 must purchase tickets for admission not less than 
one hour prior to Bar doors opening for such event. Events permitted under this subsection shall 



be limited to 52 events annually per licensed premises. Licensee shall furnish Statesboro City 
Clerk and Chief of the Statesboro Police Department or his/ her designee with notice of events 
being held pursuant to this subsection not less than five (5) business days prior to event. 

(c) All employees of the Bar, whether part or full time and regardless of employment capacity, 
must also be at least 21 years of age. 

(d) The restriction in Section 6-9(c) shall not apply to 3rd party outside vendors or other non-staff 
employees who are on premises for a limited duration, are being compensated to perform a 
specific task, are not regularly on the premises, and are not on premises for purposes of 
patronizing the Bar. 

(e) No person shall allow or require an individual under the age of 21 to serve as a Bouncer on 
any premises where alcoholic beverages are dispensed, served, or sold pursuant to an alcoholic 
beverage license. 

 

First Reading: June 27, 2018 

Second Reading:   

 

__________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
__________________________ 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 

 
 



Ordinance 2018-06 

Section 6-3 Definitions 

Bar means any public place with its primary business being the service of alcoholic beverages 
for on premises consumption. Bars shall not be required to have any food preparation capacity or 
certain percentage of food sales. 

Bar with Kitchen means any public place with its primary business being the service of alcoholic 
beverages for on premises consumption that has an adequate and sanitary kitchen and dining 
room equipment, having employed a sufficient number of cooks and kinds of employees to 
prepare, cook, and serve suitable food at tables with seating, and holding a certificate of 
inspection and approval from the county health department. 

Event Venue means a public place hosting advertised sporting events, projected cinematic 
showings, live musical concerts, performing arts presentations or performances. and/or any other 
type of entertainment for which a ticket is required for admission and attendance with the serving 
of alcoholic beverages to be consumed on the premises as only incidental thereto. Event Venues 
may host private functions with guest list and no ticket being required. Cover charges are 
expressly prohibited. Serving of prepared food and its attendant facilities shall be permitted but 
not required. Event Venues shall only be open to public for one hour before and after hosted 
events. 

Live Musical Concert means any musical performance by one or more musicians/singers playing 
music through the use of conventional musical instruments where a ticket is required for 
admission. A Disc Jockey, a person playing pre-recorded music, would also qualify. In any case 
a single event contract between performer(s) and licensee shall be required. Karaoke is not 
considered to be a live musical performance for the purposes of this ordinance. 

Live Performing Arts Presentation means an artistic performance by one or more 
actors/performers in a play, comedy act or other similar live ticketed presentation.  A film, 
movie, or video presentation does not meet the requirements of this definition. 

Pub means any public place kept, used, maintained, and advertised and held out to the public as a 
place where meals are served and where meals are actually and regularly served, such place 
being provided with adequate and sanitary kitchen and dining room equipment, having employed 
a sufficient number of cooks and kinds of employees to prepare, cook, and serve suitable food at 
tables with seating, and holding a certificate of inspection and approval from the county health 
department. At least one meal per day shall be served every day that the premises is open to the 
public, and the serving of such meals shall be a substantial portion of the business conducted, 
with the serving of alcoholic beverages also comprising a substantial portion of its business. A 
pub shall have 40 percent or more of its total annual gross sales of from the sale of prepared 
meals. The sale of ice, garnishes, soft drinks, mixers or beverages of any kind shall not constitute 
the sale of prepared meals. 

Restaurant means any public place kept, used, maintained, and advertised and held out to the 
public as a place where meals are served and where meals are actually and regularly served, such 



place being provided with adequate and sanitary kitchen and dining room equipment, having 
employed a sufficient number of cooks and kinds of employees to prepare, cook, and serve 
suitable food at all times the place is open with the sole exception of one hour after food 
preparation ceases for business at tables with seating, and holding a certificate of inspection and 
approval from the county health department. At least one meal per day shall be served every day 
that the premises is open to the public, and the serving of such meals shall be the principal 
business conducted, with the serving of alcoholic beverages to be consumed on the premises as 
only incidental thereto. A restaurant shall have 70 percent or more of its total annual gross sales 
of from the sale of prepared meals. The sale of ice, garnishes, soft drinks, mixers or beverages of 
any kind shall not constitute the sale of prepared meals. 

Section 6-4 

(e)    Underage Permit.  All licensees who hold a Class D, E, or F and desire to allow Minor 
Persons under 21 Years of Age on their premises under Sec 6-9(b) and in accordance with 
O.C.G.A. 3.3.24.1 shall be required to obtain an Under Age Permit. Application for Underage 
Permit may be made with license application, with license renewal or by separate application to 
the City Clerk. Only Mayor and Council shall have the authority to grant Underage Permits.  
Such permit shall only be operative when premises is hosting a Live Musical Concert or Live 
Performing Arts Presentation. During all times that the Underage Permit is operative the kitchen 
must remain open, offering the full or a substantial menu during that time. At no time shall 
patrons under 21 be allowed to sit at alcohol dispensing station (bar). Events permitted under this 
subsection shall be limited to 12 events annually per licensed premises. Licensee shall furnish 
Statesboro City Clerk and Chief of the Statesboro Police Department or his/ her designees with 
notice of events being held pursuant to this subsection not less than ten (10) business days prior 
to event. 

 

Sec. 6-9. - Minors and persons under 21 years of age.  

In addition to the prohibitions set forth at O.C.G.A. §§ 3-3-23, 3-3-23.1, 3-3-24, and 3-3-24.1 as 
amended, which are hereby incorporated by reference herein, the following guidelines for license 
type shall apply: 

(a) Bars: No persons under 21 are allowed to enter, remain, or be employed except for third-
party outside vendors or other non-staff individuals who are on the premises for a limited 
duration and are being compensated to perform a specific task on the premises but are not 
regularly on the premises nor are on the premises to patronize the Bar. Examples of such 
individuals include, but are not limited to, the following: construction workers, couriers, 
deliverymen, and handymen and repairmen.  

(b) Bars with Kitchens: The prohibitions set forth in 6-9(a) shall apply unless licensee 
possesses an Underage Permit as stipulated in 6-4-(e), proper notice under referenced 
subsection has been made, and the kitchen is open serving a full or substantial menu of 
premises prepared meals. At such times, and in compliance with O.C.G.A. 3.3.24.1, the 
restriction in 6-9 (a) shall not apply if a minor between 18 years and 20 years of age 



enters a Bar with Kitchen in order to attend a bona fide Live Musical Concert or Live 
Performing Arts Presentation for which the minor has purchased a ticket.  Tickets for 
such events may not be made available or sold at the premises at any time less than two 
hours prior to noticed start of event. During such events door personnel must use an ID 
Scanner to verify the age of each patron, regardless of age, and must place wristbands on 
patrons 21 years or older. Alcoholic Beverages served to non-minor patrons must be in a 
plastic, colored cup when Underage Permit is operative.  

(c) Event Venues: No age restrictions during permitted hours of operation. 
(d) Low Volume Licensees: No age restrictions shall apply. 
(e) Pubs: No one under 18 shall be allowed in or to remain on premises after 10 pm without 

a parent or guardian. No one under 21 years of age shall be allowed to enter or remain on 
premises after the kitchen has stopped serving. Pubs may allow patrons over 18 years of 
age to enter and remain during live music concerts that continue past 10 PM if the kitchen 
remains open offering the full or substantial menu during that time. At no time shall 
patrons under 21 be allowed to sit at alcohol dispensing station (bar) unless accompanied 
by parent or guardian. There shall be no set time for a Pub owner to close the kitchen nor 
does the closing time need to be consistent on a daily basis. 

(f) Restaurants: At no time shall patrons under 21 be allowed to sit at alcohol dispensing 
station (bar) unless accompanied by parent or guardian. No other age restrictions shall 
apply. 



Ordinance 2018-07 

PROPOSED 

Sec. 2-98. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal.  

There is hereby created a board to be known as the alcohol advisory board. The alcohol advisory board 
shall consist of six members who shall be residents of Bulloch County. The mayor and each city council 
member shall each have authority to appoint one member to the alcohol advisory board.  The 
appointment of members of the alcohol advisory board on September 4, 2018 shall be as follows: 

(1) Board members appointed by Mayor, and Districts 1 and 4 shall be appointed for terms of two years. 

(2) Board members appointed by Districts 2, 3, and 5 shall be appointed for terms of one year. 

Each successor appointed to the alcohol board thereafter shall be appointed by majority vote of the 
governing body for a term of two years. (alternately by the council district or Mayor that appointed the 
outgoing member) Members may be appointed for up to two successive terms. Vacancies on the alcohol 
advisory board occurring other than by expiration of term shall be filled by an interim appointment for 
the unexpired term by majority vote of the governing body. The governing body shall have the authority 
to remove any member of the alcohol advisory board by a majority vote for cause, on written charges, 
after a public hearing. All members shall serve without compensation. 

CURRENT 

Sec. 2-98. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal.  

There is hereby created a board to be known as the alcohol advisory board. The alcohol advisory board 
shall consist of six members who shall be residents of Bulloch County. The mayor and each city 
councilmember shall each have authority to appoint one member to the alcohol advisory board. The 
term of office of each appointed member of the alcohol advisory board shall be two years, and the term 
shall begin on July 1 st , and end at the stroke of midnight on June 30 th . The initial term for initial 
members of the alcohol advisory board shall end on June 30, 2018. The initial members of the alcohol 
advisory board shall be appointed at the time this division takes effect, shall hold office for the balance 
of their terms then remaining, and their successors shall be appointed by the mayor and each city 
councilmember for a term of two years. Vacancies on the alcohol advisory board occurring other than by 
expiration of term shall be filled by an interim appointment for the unexpired term by the mayor or 
councilmember who appointed the member who vacated the seat. The mayor and city council shall 
have the authority to remove any member of the alcohol advisory board appointed by it by a majority 
vote for cause, on written charges, after a public hearing. All members shall serve without 
compensation. 

REDLINE 

Sec. 2-98. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal.  

There is hereby created a board to be known as the alcohol advisory board. The alcohol advisory board 
shall consist of six members who shall be residents of Bulloch County. The mayor and each city 
councilmember shall each have authority to appoint one member to the alcohol advisory board. The 
term of office of each appointed member of the alcohol advisory board shall be two years, and the term 



shall begin on July 1 st , and end at the stroke of midnight on June 30 th . The initial term for initial 
members of the alcohol advisory board shall end on June 30, 2018. The initial members of the alcohol 
advisory board shall be appointed at the time this division takes effect, shall hold office for the balance 
of their terms then remaining, and their successors shall be appointed by the mayor and each city 
councilmember for a term of two years.  The appointment of members of the alcohol advisory board 
shall be as follows: 

(1) Board members appointed by Mayor, and Districts 2 and 4 shall be appointed for terms of four years. 

(2) Board members appointed by Districts 1, 3, and 5 shall be appointed for terms of two years. 

Each successor appointed to the alcohol board thereafter shall be appointed for a term of four years. 
Members may be appointed for up to two successive terms. Vacancies on the alcohol advisory board 
occurring other than by expiration of term shall be filled by an interim appointment for the unexpired 
term by the mayor or councilmember who appointed the member who vacated the seat. The mayor and 
city council shall have the authority to remove any member of the alcohol advisory board appointed by 
it by a majority vote for cause, on written charges, after a public hearing. All members shall serve  

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Sharon Anton, City Planner 

 

Date: August 10, 2018 

 

RE: August 21, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment 

requested by application RZ-18-07-01 with conditions. 

 

Background: Haken Holdings requests a zoning map amendment of 2.24 acres 

of property located at 814 South Main Street from the CR (Commercial Retail) to 

the R-4 (High Density Residential) zoning district in order to develop a multi-family 

cottage community (Tax Parcel MS52 000027 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Yawn (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 18-07-01 
  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 18-07-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

814 South Main Street 

LOCATION: 814 South Main Street 

 

REQUEST: 

Zoning map amendment from CR 

(Commercial Retail) to R4 (High 

Density Residential District). 

APPLICANT: Haken Holdings – Justin Helms 

OWNER(S): FFF Properties, LLC & S&F Enterprises 

ACRES: 2.24 Acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS52 000027 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 3 (Yawn) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a zoning map amendment from the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to the R4 
(High Density Residential) zoning district in order to demolish the existing vacant metal building and develop 
a multi-family cottage community, which is not an allowed used in the existing zoning designation. 

BACKGROUND:     

This property contains a vacant commercial building. The City previously received a building permit and 
LDAP application for True Value Hardware in June 2017, but the application was withdrawn.  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CR (Commercial Retail), EXPT 
(Exempt) 

Automotive Services Facility, Vacant Land 

SOUTH: R4 (High Density Residential 
District) 

Apartment House/Group of Apartment Houses 

EAST: EXPT (Exempt) Educational Facility 

WEST: HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial) 

Automotive Services Facility 

The subject property is located within the CR (Commercial Retail) district. Surrounding parcels include two 
businesses in the automotive repair industry, as well as vacant land and Georgia Southern University 
Property (See Exhibit A –Location Map, Exhibit B—Future Development Map & Exhibit C—Photos of 
Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Proposed Architectural Renderings), Exhibit E (Proposed Site Plan) 

  



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Activity Centers/ Regional Centers” 

Vision: 

Currently dominated by auto-oriented design and large surface parking lots, the 

Activity Centers will evolve into pedestrian-oriented shopping, office, and 

entertainment places that may also accommodate high-density residential 

development. Where excess parking is located, infill development can break up large 

surface lots. Tree plantings and landscaping will be generous to soften the 

development intensity in these areas. Access to these activity centers will be easily 

achieved for pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers alike. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Infill and redevelopment in these areas should occur according to a master plan 

that allows for mixed uses, transportation choices and urban design that mitigates 

the appearance of auto-dependence. 

 Encourage infill, new, and redevelopment to build close to the street. 

 Evaluate parking ordinances for appropriate standards, including maximum 

standards and shared parking provisions. 

 New developments that contain a mix of residential, commercial uses and 

community facilities at small enough scale and proximity to encourage walking 

between destinations. 

 Diverse mix of higher density housing types, such as multi-family, town 

houses, apartments, lofts, and condos. 

 
Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 25-26. 

The subject area also lays between “Commercial Redevelopment Area #2” and the “University District” 
character areas.  

“Commercial Redevelopment Area” 

Vision:  
These areas are characterized by a high degree of 
access by vehicular traffic; onsite parking; and a low 
degree of open space. It is the desire of the 
community to identify and target these areas for 
redevelopment and investment, thus returning these 
areas to their intended state of a thriving 
commercial and/or mixed use district 

“Residential Redevelopment Area” 

Vision:  
Development within this area, whether on campus 
or nearby, should focus heavily on pedestrian and 
bike accessibility, as well as transit. Transitioning 
the area along the northern side of campus into 
more active uses, such as residences, educational 
buildings, activity centers, etc. could significantly 
bridge the physical gap between downtown and 
university.  

 

Per Article VII Section 700, the Appendix A of the Code of Ordinances of Statesboro, Georgia:  

High density residential purposes shall be “in accordance with the objectives, policies, and proposals 
of the future land use plan; to permit a variety of housing; to assure the suitable design of apartments 
in order to protect the surrounding environment of adjacent and nearby neighborhoods; and to insure 
that the proposed development will constitute a residential environment of sustained desirability and 
stability and not produce a volume of traffic in excess of the capacity for which access streets are 
designed.” 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

ANALYSIS 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property falls under the jurisdiction of city utilities, sanitation, and public safety, though 
existing commercial building is not currently in use. No significant impact is expected on community 
facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

An additional study may be required to determine the presence of wetlands on the subject property.  

 
ZONING CONSIDERATIONS: 
Whether or not to grant a zoning map amendment from the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district 
to the R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district.   

The request should be considered in light of: 

 the standards for determination of zoning map amendments given in Section 2007 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 the vision and community policies articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 

 the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan 

 the potential for the property to develop and be utilized in conformance with the requirements of 
the proposed R4 (High Density Residential) district as set forth in the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance. 

 

Current Zoning 

The commercial retail (CR) district can 
accommodate a variety of business types and some 
residential uses. However, “High Density 
Residential,” are not listed as permissible uses 
allowable by right in the CR district. Those uses are 
explicitly permitted in the R4 district.   

 

Requested Zoning 

The R4 (High Density Residential) district allows for 
apartment houses, which is the applicant’s intended 
land use for the subject property. 

STANDARDS: ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City 
Council to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment, in “balancing 
the promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the 
right of unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are as follows: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby 

a. Existing uses and zoning of property nearby varies. The surrounding lots are zoned 
CR (Commercial Retail), R4 (High Density Residential), and EXPT (Exempt), and 
are occupied by automotive repair businesses, vacant land, and Georgia Southern 
University. 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions.  

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes 
the health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property 
owner.  

a. The subject site is currently zoned CR (Commercial Retail). Per Articles VII and X, 
sections 801 and 1001, respectively, this parcel can currently house a variety of 
business and professional offices, similar to some of the surrounding lots. However, 
high density residential developments are specifically restricted to R4 zoned properties. 
Under the proposed zoning, the applicant would be able to develop a high density 
residential project. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of 
land development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  

a. Staff is unable to locate records of previous businesses at this location. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: population density in the 
area; community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in 
adjacent areas; and 

a. Proposed land use change would cause an increase in population density.  

b. Impacts on local traffic should be considered. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans 
for the community. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of this zoning map amendment based on the site plan dated July 2, 2018, 
and architectural renderings submitted on July 3, 2018, as a part of application RZ 18-07-01. 

 

At the regularly scheduled meeting held on August 7, 2018, at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 
5-0 to approve application RZ 18-07-01 with staff recommendations and the following condition as stated: 

 

(a) By-laws and restrictive covenants are to be recorded prior to construction commencement. 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Rear view of subject site, looking west from Register Road 

 

Picture 2: Looking north, a portion of the subject site’s rear view & adjacent property to the north, currently an 

automotive repair business 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

Picture 3: Front view of subject site, looking west from South Main Street 

 

 

Picture 4: Front view of subject site, looking north along South Main Street 

    

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

Picture 5: Looking West from the subject site, currently an automotive repair business (D&R Car Care II) 

 

 

 

 

Picture 6: Looking East from the subject site, currently Georgia Southern University property  

 
 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

EXHIBIT D: Proposed Architectural Renderings 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-07-01 

 

Exhibit E: Proposed Site Plan 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Sharon Anton, City Planner 

 

Date: August 10, 2018 

 

RE: August 21, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment 

requested by application RZ 18-07-02 with conditions.  

 

Background: Windward South requests a zoning map amendment of 19.2 acres 

from a 54.12 acre property located on S&S Railroad Bed Road from R-10/R-8 

(Single Family Residential) to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district 

in order to develop a multifamily residential subdivision. (Tax Parcel # 107 000009 

000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Duke (District 5) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 18-07-02 
 
  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ-18-07-02 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

S&S RAILROAD BED ROAD 

LOCATION: S&S Railroad Bed Road (Parcel 12) 

 

REQUEST: 

Zoning Map Amendment of 19.2 acres of 

a 54.12 parcel from R10/R8 to PUD to 

build a multifamily residential 

development 

APPLICANT: David Pearce (Windward South) 

OWNER(S): CFN Partners/L&S Acquisitions LLC 

ACRES: 19.2 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
107 000009 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 5 (Duke) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a zoning map amendment of 19.2 acres to be subdivided from a 54.12 property 
located on S&S Railroad Bed Road from the R-10/R-8 (Single Family Residential) zoning district to the PUD 
(Planned Unit Development) zoning district, in order to construct a multifamily residential subdivision 
consisting of 119 units and 261 beds (See Exhibit B—Proposed PUD Site Plan). At this time, the property is 
serving as farmland, and has no current additional use. (See Exhibit F – Location Map). 

BACKGROUND:   

Currently, the site is being used as farmland with multiple zoning classifications. The previous owner of the 
parcel was Walter Beasley. The property was annexed by the city on July 1, 2013. During the annexation 
process, the 60.92 parcel was rezoned from R40 (Single Family Residential, Bulloch County) to R8 (Single 
Family Residential) and R10 (Single Family Residential). On May 1, 2018, 6.8 acres was subdivided from 
the northern portion of the 60.91 acre parcel and was rezoned to CR (Commercial Retail). 
 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: PUD (Planned Unit Development)  Multifamily Residential 

SOUTH: R40 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Detached Dwellings 

EAST: R25 (Single Family Residential (County)) Single Family Detached Dwellings 

WEST R40 (Single Family Residential (County)) Single Family Detached Dwellings 

The subject property is located within the R8/R10) district. Surrounding parcels include several county 
properties currently used for agriculture (See Exhibit A –Location Map, Exhibit B—Future Development 
Map & Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

 
ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Proposed Site Plan), Exhibit C (Landscape Plan), 
Exhibit D (Wetland Plan), Exhibit E (Property Photos), Exhibit F (Future Development Map), Exhibit G 
(Revised Site Plan w/ Fee Simple Layout) 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Established/Existing Traditional Neighborhood” 

Vision: 

The residential areas in the Developing Urban Neighborhood Areas are located in 

newly developing or redeveloping areas of the City. The developments in this area will 

primarily be characterized by urban style housing, likely with clustered densities, green 

space, and a higher level of resident amenities. Nodal commercial development should 

also be included to serve the needs of residents. New developments should strive to 

connectivity within developments to existing streets, and to adjacent undeveloped 

properties. Pedestrian access should remain a priority. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Large new developments should be Master Planned to include mixed uses 

whenever appropriate 

 New developments that contains a mix of residential, commercial uses and 

community facilities at small enough scale and proximity to encourage walking 

between destinations. 

 Residential development with a healthy mix of uses (corner groceries, barber 

shops, drug stores) with easy walking distances. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 19. 

The subject area also lies between county properties which are currently undeveloped properties.  

In addition, the Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states 
the following:  

“Large areas of green space will be conserved for active and passive recreation, as well as protection of 
environmental sensitive areas, such as wetlands and floodplains.  

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 31. 

ANALYSIS 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property falls under the jurisdiction of city utilities, sanitation, and public safety, though the 
property currently only receives water for agricultural use. Expected impact will require connection to city 
sewer  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property contains 3.3 acres of wetlands along the southern portion of the property line, but 
the proposed development  

ZONING CONSIDERATIONS: 
Whether or not to grant a zoning map amendment from the current R8/R10 (Single Family 
Residential) zoning district to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district. 

The request should be considered in light of: 

 the standards for determination of zoning map amendments given in Section 2007 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; 

 the vision and community policies articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, 
the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan; 

 the potential for the property to develop and be utilized in conformance with the requirements of 
the proposed PUD (Planned Unit Development) district as set forth in the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

ANANLYSIS (CONT’D) 

 Current Zoning 

The R10/R8 (Single Family Residential) district 
purpose statement declares that standards are and 
uses are designed “in order to maintain and protect 
the desirable benefits which single-family detached 
residential uses have throughout the community.   

Requested Zoning 

The PUD (Planned Unit Development) district has 
the declared purpose of “is to permit flexibility in 
situations where modifications of specific provisions 
of this ordinance will not be contrary to its intent and 
purpose.” 

In the case of the subject parcel, current zoning does not allow for the construction of proposed 
subdivision as outlined in conceptual plan (Exhibit B). The proposed development would consist of 
duplexes and triplexes. 
 

STANDARDS: ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City 
Council to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment, in “balancing 
the promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the 
right of unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are as follows: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby 

a. Surrounding lots are zoned east and west are R25/R40. Currently both properties are 
outside of the city limits.  

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions.  

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes 
the health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property 
owner.  

a. The subject site was zoned R10/R8 (Single Family Residential) as part of a PUD that 
was never developed. This atypical mixed zoning created during annexation restricts 
the property to a design that did not come to fruition, so almost any other proposed 
development would require a zoning map amendment in order to move forward. In this 
case, the property owner is proposing a unit density higher than the R-4 zoning district 
permits. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of 
land development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: population density in the 
area; community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in 
adjacent areas; and  

a. The new development would increase the population density and traffic in the area, but 
such an increase is consistent with the planned residential development areas for 
Statesboro as shown in the Future Development Map. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans 
for the community. 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of this zoning map amendment based on PUD site plan submitted 
on July 6, 2018. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting held of August 7, 2018, at 5:00 PM, the Planning 
Commission voted 5-0 to approve application RZ 18-07-02 with staff recommendations and the 
following condition(s) as stated: 

(a) By-laws and restrictive covenants are to be recorded prior to construction 
commencement.  

(b) Staff approval of a new landscape plan. 

(c) Site plan to be revised for Fee Simple ownership.  

*Revised Site Plan submitted on August 15, 2018 to meet condition (c) of Planning Commission approval. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

 
EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

EXHIBIT B: PROPOSED SITE PLAN 

 

 

 

 

(P
le

a
s

e
 

N
o

te
: 

U
n

le
s
s
 

o
th

e
rw

is
e

 
s
ta

te
d

 
in

 
a

n
y
 

fo
rm

a
l 

m
o

tio
n

 
b

y
 

C
ity

 
C

o
u

n
c
il, 

s
ta

ff 
c
o

n
s
id

e
rs

 
th

e
 

c
o

n
c
e

p
tu

a
l s

ite
 p

la
n
 (E

x
h

ib
it B

) s
u

b
m

itte
d

 o
n

 b
e

h
a
lf o

f th
e

 a
p

p
lic

a
n

t o
f th

is
 re

q
u
e

s
t to

 b
e
 illu

s
tra

tiv
e

 o
n

ly
. 

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l o
f th

is
 a

p
p

lic
a
tio

n
 d

o
e

s
 n

o
t c

o
n

s
titu

te
 a

p
p

ro
v
a

l o
f a

n
y
 fin

a
l b

u
ild

in
g

 o
r s

ite
 p

la
n

). 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

EXHIBIT C: LANDSCAPE PLAN (Revised 8/10/18) 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

EXHIBIT D: SITE PLAN W/ WETLANDS  

  



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

EXHIBIT E: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

 

Picture 1: Subject Site Depicted from parcel end closest to Cawana Road 

 

 

Picture 2: Subject Frontage from S&S Railroad Bed Road 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

 

Picture 3: Subject frontage towards Preatoria Rushing Road 

 

Picture 4: Subject center point floodplain 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

 

Picture 5: Google Earth Image of Parcel and Surrounding Properties 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

EXHIBIT F: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 
 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ-18-07-02 

EXHIBIT G: REVISED SITE PLAN W/ FEE SIMPLE LAYOUT (DATED: AUGUST 15, 2018) 

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Sharon Anton, City Planner 

 

Date: August 10, 2018 

 

RE: August 21, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Central Business District Plan Review 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Central Business District 

Plan Review requested by CBD application 18-07-03.  

 

Background: Northland Communications Corporation requests approval of the 

proposed site and architectural plans submitted for 1.17 acres of property 

located at 32 E. Vine St, which is located in the Central Business District (CBD). 

Per Article VIII, Section 803, development in the CBD zoning district requires a 

recommendation from City Council to affirm that the plans will keep in mind the 

integrity and harmony of the Central Business District (Tax Parcel S29 000019 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report CBD 18-07-03 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-07-03 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 CBD 18-07-03 

CBD PLAN REVIEW 

32 EAST VINE STREET 

LOCATION: 32 East Vine Street 

 

REQUEST: 

Approval of the site and architectural 

plans for development on a CBD 

(Central Business District) property. 

APPLICANT: Northland Communications Corporation 

OWNER(S): Northland Communications Corporation 

ACRES: 1.17 Acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S29 000019 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Jones) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests approval of the proposed site and architectural plans submitted for 1.17 acres of 
property located at 32 E. Vine St, which is located in the Central Business District (CBD). Per Article VIII, 
Section 803, development in the CBD zoning district requires a recommendation from City Council to affirm 
that the plans will keep in mind the integrity and harmony of the Central Business District 

BACKGROUND:     

This property is the former site of the Northland Communications office building. That structure was 
demolished following the City Council decision on May 1, 2018 regarding application DSDA 18-04-01. 
Structures located in the boundaries of the Downtown District and meeting one of the criteria contained in 
Article XXX, Section 3003(D) require a finding of necessity for proposed demolitions. 
 
SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CBD (Central Business District) Food service facilities, retail or wholesale establishments,  business or 
professional offices and office buildings 

SOUTH: LI (Light Industrial) Retail or wholesale establishments 

EAST: CBD (Central Business District) Personal services facilities 

WEST CBD (Central Business District) Personal services facilities 

 
ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Photos of Subject Site), Exhibit C (Proposed Site 
Plan), Exhibit D (Proposed Architectural Elevations/Renderings) 

  



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-07-03 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Downtown” 

Vision: 

Downtown is the historic core of the city and should remain the activity and cultural hub 

of the region. In the Urban Core, Traditional development patterns of buildings along 

the sidewalk and a lively streetscape should be respected and promoted. Historic 

buildings should be protected from demolition or inappropriate restoration which can 

degrade the architectural details of the structures. Additional residential opportunities, 

especially in the form of lofts or other residential over retail, should be promoted. 

Street-level uses should be reserved for retail, entertainment, or similar high activity 

uses. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 New development should respect historic context of building mass, height and 

setbacks.  

 Ensure that future phases of streetscape enhancements are developed in 

harmony with previous efforts as well as economic development goals of the City 

and the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority (DSDA) / Main Street 

program. 

 Develop architectural guidelines to guide new development and renovations of 

historic buildings. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 14-16. 

ANALYSIS 

 
Whether or not to approve the proposed site and architectural plans  for property in the CBD 
(Central Business District)   

The request should be considered in light of: 

 the standards for and intent of the CBD as defined in Article VIII, section 800 of the of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 the vision and community policies articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 
 

STANDARDS: CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT 

Section 803 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states the following with regarding to requirements for 
development in the CBD zoning district: 

“A site plan and architectural drawings are required prior to issuance of a building permit. The 
planning commission shall review these plans and drawings and submit their findings and 
recommendations to the building inspector and city council prior to the issuance of the building 
permit. The drawings shall keep in mind the integrity and harmony of the central business district 
as designated in the future land use plan and other related studies.” 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of application CBD 18-07-03 based on the submitted site plans dated June 
19, 2018 and elevations dated July 2, 2018. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting held on August 7, 2018, at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 
5-0 to approve application CBD 18-07-03 with staff recommendations. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-07-03 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

 
 

CBD 18-07-03 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-07-03 

EXHIBIT B: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Front view of subject site, looking southeast from E Vine St 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Picture 2: Front view of subject site, 

looking south from E Vine St 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Picture 3: Looking east from the McTell Trail 

at the subject site 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Picture 4: Front view of subject site, looking north 

along South Main Street 

    

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-07-03 

EXHIBIT C : PROPOSED SITE PLAN

  



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-07-03 

EXHIBIT D : PROPOSED ARCHITERUAL ELEVATIONS 

 

Rendering 

 

Side A Elevation  

 

 

Side B Elevation  

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-07-03 

EXHIBIT D: PROPOSED ARCHITERUAL ELEVATIONS 

 

Front Elevation  

 

 

Rear Elevation  

 













 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
 
 
To:   Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
   
Date:  August 14, 2018 
 
RE: Placement of Historical Marker on City Property by  
 The Bulloch County Historical Society  
 
Policy Issue:  City Property  
 
Recommendation:  
Consideration of a motion to approve the Bulloch County Historical Society to place a 
historical marker on city property recognizing the grave of Willie Heddleston, the first 
internment in Eastside Cemetery and authorize the mayor to sign an MOU for the 
placement of said marker. 
 
Background:  
The Bulloch County Historical Society (BCHS) has placed over 20 historical markers 
throughout Bulloch County recognizing historical facts about the property in which they 
are placed.  Several of these historical markers have been erected on City of 
Statesboro property including Fabulous Fifty, United States vs Darby Lumber, City of 
Statesboro founding, and Eastside Cemetery.  Currently, the BCHS is requesting to install 
a new historical marker in Eastside Cemetery to recognize the grave of Willie 
Heddleston, the first internment in Eastside Cemetery.  Staff has no concerns or 
objections to this request. 
 
The content on the marker will read as follows: 
 
Willie Heddleston 
The first internment in Eastside 
Cemetery occurred on March 8, 1890. 
Willie Heddleston was born April 17, 1856 
And was printer for the Eagle Publishing 
Company.  Eagle Publishing Company sold 
Stationery, books and periodicals  
 
 
 



 
 
Budget Impact:  None 
 
Council Person and District: Phil Boyum, District 1 
 
Attachments: Map of Subject Area 
 



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  
BETWEEN THE CITY OF STATESBORO AND  

BULLOCH COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY, INC. 

 

WHEREAS, Bulloch County Historical Society, Inc. (“Society”) is a non-profit corporation incorporated 
under Georgia law dedicated to educating the community about the rich history of Bulloch County; 

WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro (“City”) is a municipal corporation located in and the county seat of 
Bulloch County; 

WHEREAS, City and Society desire an arrangement under which the Society can install and maintain 
historical education markers at the Eastside Cemetery of City’s property located at 1502 Northside Drive 
East, Statesboro (“Premises”) and in essence be the curator of historical markers on Premises; 

NOW THEREFORE, this Memorandum of Understanding is entered into by and between the City of 
Statesboro and the Bulloch County Historical Society, Inc. this, the ___day of August, 2018. 

The City and the Society mutually agree as follows: 

1. PURPOSE. This Memorandum of Understanding serves to clarify and solidify the arrangement 
between City and Society regarding the use and curation of historical markers on the Premises. 
 

2. GOVERNING LAW. This Memorandum of Understanding shall be governed in all respects by the 
laws of the State of Georgia. 
 

3. TERMS AND CONDITIONS. Society will be the curator of historical markers on the Premises and 
shall be permitted to install historical markers relating to the history of Statesboro and Bulloch 
County within the Premises. Society will also be allowed to enter Premises for the purpose of 
maintenance and installation of these markers. City approval of markers is not required prior to 
installation by Society, but City can object to markers, which must be removed by Society within 
seven days from receipt of City’s written objection. City assumes no risk or liability for any 
damage done to Society markers or any injury caused by said markers Society shall take all 
appropriate and reasonable measures to mitigate the physical effect of marker installation, 
maintenance, and removal on the Premises. 
 

4. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Memorandum of Understanding constitutes the entire agreement 
and understanding between the parties with respect to the subject matter. This is intended as 
the final expression of their agreement and is a complete statement of the terms thereof. 
 

5. MODIFICATION. This Memorandum of Understanding may be modified at any time with the 
written mutual consent of the City and Society. 
 



 
6. AMENDMENTS IN WRITING.  No amendment to this Memorandum of Understanding shall be 

effective unless it is in writing and signed by the Mayor of City and CEO of Society. 
 

7. NOTIFICATION. All notices under this Memorandum of Understanding shall be deemed duly 
given upon delivery, if delivered by hand, or three {3) days after posting, if sent by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, to a party hereto at the address set forth below or to 
such other address as a party may designate by notice pursuant hereto. 

City: City Clerk Sue Starling 
50 E Main St., Statesboro, GA 30458 

Society: President Joe McGlamery 
PO Box 42, Statesboro, GA 30458 

8. ASSIGNABILITY. Neither party shall assign any interest in the Memorandum of Understanding, 
nor shall either party transfer any interest in the same (whether by assignment or notification), 
without prior written consent of the party thereto. 
 

9. SECTION HEADINGS. Section headings contained in this Memorandum of Understanding are for 
reference purposes only and shall not affect, in any way, the meaning and interpretation of this 
Agreement. 
 

10. SCOPE AND DURATION. 
 

a. This Agreement shall commence on August 21, 2018. This Agreement shall automatically 
renew on August 21, 2019 and each year thereafter on August 21, until such time as written 
notice of termination or modification is received by either party at least thirty {30) days 
prior to the expiration of the first term or any term thereafter. 
 

b. This Memorandum of Understanding may be terminated at any time by either party with at 
least ninety (90) days written notice to the other party. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Statesboro and Bulloch County Historical Society, Inc. have executed 
this agreement as of the date written above. 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
City of Statesboro 

 Attest 

 

Joe McGlamery, President 
Bulloch County Historical Society, Inc. 

 Attest 

 



Grave of
Willie Heddleston

Proposed Willie Heddleston
Historical MarkerHILL ST

TU
RN

ER
 ST

NORTHSIDE DR E

£¤80
¬«26

Ko
ch

ia
St

La
ur

el
St

Na
rci

ss
us

St

Birch Dr

Bl
ue

be
llS

t

Az
ale

aS
t

Ca
me

llia
St

Dogwood Dr

Cedar Dr
Da

ffo
dil

St

Ev
erg

ree
nS

t

Fo
rsy

thi
aS

t

Ga
rd

ini
aS

t

Ho
ne

ys
uc

kle
St

Iris
St

Eastside Cemetery
Proposed Historical Marker


	08-21-2018 Council Agenda
	08-2018 Purple Heart
	08-07-2018 Council minutes
	08-14-2018 Called Council minutes
	08-2018 Deacon Blues Alcohol
	08-2018 Blue Room Alcohol
	08-2018 Long Life Medical
	08-2018 Lisa's Therapeutic Massage
	08-2018-03 updated Michael's Law Revision of 6-9 (4)under 21 new
	WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and

	08-2018-06 Ordinance ALcohol Goldilocks
	08-2018-07 Ordinance AAB Terms Agenda Item (3) new
	08-2018 Planning Zoning Revised Council Packet AUG 2018
	08-2018 Tyson Utilities
	08-2018 Memo for Council - Historical Society
	08-2018 MOU - COS & Historical Society (1) (2)
	08-2018 Marker Map Historical

